NO. 44232-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

NICHOLAS KEITH MAYER,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**John A. Hays, No. 16654
Attorney for Appellant**

**1402 Broadway
Suite 103
Longview, WA 98632
(360) 423-3084**

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

1. Substantial evidence does not support the first degree burglary conviction because the defendant never strayed from areas of the building open to the public.

2. The trial court's use of an instruction that allowed the jury to convict upon an alternative method of committing an offense unsupported by substantial evidence denied the defendant his right to a unanimous jury verdict under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21, and under United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment.

3. The trial court erred under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 7, and United States Constitution, Fourth Amendment when it denied a motion to suppress evidence the police obtained after illegally detaining the defendant based upon information provided by an anonymous informant.

4. The trial court erred when it refused to suppress statements the defendant made during custodial interrogation because the police told him that he could not have the help of an attorney unless he was first arrested and taken before a judge.

5. The trial court's decision to allow a key state's witness to vouch for her own credibility denied the defendant his right to have a fair and impartial jury be the sole judge of the facts under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21 and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment.

6. The trial court's refusal to grant the defense a continuance in order to employ an expert to evaluate and counter last minute DNA evidence denied the defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

1. Under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourth Amendment, does substantial evidence support a conviction for first degree burglary when the evidence presented at trial shows that the defendant entered an open restaurant through a door not normally used by the public but which opened into the public access area of the building?

2. Does a trial court's use of an instruction that allows a jury to convict upon an alternative method of committing an offense unsupported by substantial evidence deny a defendant the right to a unanimous jury verdict under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21, and under United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment?

3. Does a trial court's refusal to suppress evidence the police obtained after detaining a defendant based upon information provided by an anonymous informant violate that defendant's right to privacy under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 7, and United States Constitution, Fourth Amendment?

4. Under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 9, and United States Constitution, Fifth Amendment, does a trial court err if it refuses to suppress statements a defendant made during custodial interrogation after the police told him that he could not have the help of an attorney unless he was first arrested and then taken before a judge?

5. Under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21 and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, does a trial court's decision to allow a key state's witness to vouch for her own credibility deny that defendant the right to have a fair and impartial jury be the sole judge of the facts?

6. Does a trial court's refusal to grant the defense a continuance in order to employ an expert to evaluate and counter last minute DNA evidence deny that defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

A gentleman by the name of Hui Choe owns a small restaurant called KC Teriyaki located near the Fred Meyers store in the Salmon Creek area of Vancouver. RP 267-270.¹ His brother-in-law Aljuarsmi Ortiz works for him. *Id.* At a little before 9:00 pm on the evening of February 9, 2012, Mr. Choe took the money out of his cash register and put it in a bank bag along with his wallet as part of his normal closing procedures. RP 296-299. Although he usually locks the restaurant at 9:00 pm, he had a customer come in at the last minute and make a “to go” order. *Id.* He also had other customers in the restaurant finishing their meals. *Id.* As a result of the last minute order and the lingering customers, Mr. Choe placed the bank bag on a stool and went back to the kitchen to prepare the order. *Id.* As he did he told Mr. Ortiz to go ahead and go home. RP 267-270.

Once Mr. Choe went back in the kitchen Mr. Ortiz started to go out the side door. RP 271-275. Although apparently in the public area of the restaurant, this door was only used by employees to take out the trash and to enter and leave the restaurant. *Id.* It was also available to be used by restaurant patrons as an emergency exit if necessary. *Id.* When Mr Ortiz

¹The record on appeal includes 11 volumes of continuously numbered verbatim reports of the combined CrR 3.5 and CrR 3.6 hearing, the jury trial, and the sentencing hearing. They are referred to herein as “RP [page #].”

opened this door and tried to go out he was confronted by two white males in their 20s, average build, wearing bandanas and both carrying handguns. *Id.* These two men forced Mr. Ortiz back into the restaurant. *Id.* One of them pointed his pistol at Mr. Ortiz and demanded money. *Id.* The other robber then apparently saw the bank bag on the stool, grabbed it, after which both robbers fled out the side door. *Id.* Mr. Ortiz responded by calling 911 and telling Mr. Choe what had happened. RP 276-279.

Mr. Ortiz was not the only person to see the incident. RP 316-321. The lady who had come in with the last minute order also saw the robbery, and her husband sitting out in the parking lot saw the two men flee the building. RP 316-321, 336-342. However, they could not identify the robbers; neither could Mr. Choe. RP 276-279, 316-321, 336-342. Once the police arrived and took statements they looked in the area for the robbers but found nobody. RP 462. They also asked Mr. Choe if he had any disgruntled ex-employees and he gave them the name of Emily Mayer. RP 299-302. Mr. Choe had fired her a few months previous believing she had been stealing. *Id.* The police later determined that Emily Mayer had at least two brothers, one of whom was the defendant Nicholas Mayer, a known drug addict. RP 463-467. Based upon this information the police listed her and her brother as possible suspects. *Id.* The next morning the news reported the robbery. RP 538.

During the evening of February 10th, the Clark County Communications Center received a call from a person who only identified himself as “Matt” and he stated that he wanted to remain anonymous. RP 463-467. He then told the 911 operator that he had been at a bar in the Dollars Corner area of Battleground in Clark County, that he had overheard the defendant Nicholas Keith Mayer bragging that he had robbed a restaurant, that Mr. Mayer had a bunch of cash on him, and that Mr. Mayer was riding in a silver pickup. *Id.* Based upon this 911 call, the Clark County Sheriff’s Officer mobilized a number of units, found the pickup in the Dollars Corner area, stopped it, and detained its three occupants: the defendant Nicholas Keith Mayer, his fiancée Sarah Baker, and a friend by the name of Mark. RP 362-365, 463-467. Once the defendant was taken into custody, one of the sheriff’s deputies called “Matt,” using the phone number that the 911 operator saw on her computer screen during the 911 call. RP 63-69. He was able to convince Matt to come forward and give a statement, which he did. *Id.*

Once at the precinct station sheriff’s deputies interviewed Sara Baker. RP 365, 549-552. They then met with the defendant who was detained in handcuffs in an interview room. RP 549-552. Initially the officers read the defendant his *Miranda* rights and asked if they could record the interview. RP 72-75, 126. The defendant consented to the recording. *Id.* As a result

the officers started the recording and again read the defendant his *Miranda* rights. *Id.* The defendant responded to this second reading of his rights by asking how he could get a lawyer if he could not afford one. RP 79-80. One of the Sheriff's deputies responded by telling him that he could only get an attorney appointed to help him if he was arrested and taken before a judge. *Id.* This conversation went as follows:

TAPE RECORDING (CONTINUED.)

DEPUTY DENNISON: Okay. Do I have your permission to record this statement?

MR. MAYER: Yes.

DEPUTY DENNISON: Okay. And so you see the tape recorder sitting there and everything's –

MR. MAYER: Yep.

DEPUTY DENNISON: – okay, right? Has anyone made any threats or promises to you regarding this statement?

MR. MAYER: No.

DEPUTY DENNISON: Okay. So, you (inaudible). I read you your *Miranda* prior to it, but now that we're on - on recording, I'm going to read it to you again, okay? You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used against you in a court of law. You have the right at this time to talk to a lawyer and have him present with you while you are being questioned. If you cannot afford to hire a lawyer, one will be appointed to represent you before questioning if you wish. You can decide at any time to exercise these rights and not answer any questions or make any statements. Do you understand each of these rights as I've explained them to you?

MR. MAYER: Yes. Um, If I wanted an attorney and I can't

afford one, what – what would – ?

DEPUTY DENNISON: If you wanted an attorney – you know, if you were charged with a crime and arrested, if you wanted an attorney and couldn't afford one, the Court would be willing to appoint you one. Do you want me to go over that with you again?

MR. MAYER: Yeah, but how would that work? Will you be – how it – how I –

DEPUTY DENNISON: You're not under arrest at this point, right?

MR. MAYER: Oh, okay. Okay.

DEPUTY DENNISON: So, if you were, then you would be taken to jail and then you'd go before a judge and then he would ask you whatever at that point, if you were being charged, you would be afforded an attorney if you couldn't hire – you know, if you weren't able to afford one.

MR. MAYER: All right. I understand.

DEPUTY DENNISON: Understand?

MR. MAYER: Yeah.

DEPUTY DENNISON: Okay. So you do understand your rights?

MR. MAYER: Yes.

DEPUTY DENNISON: Keep your rights in mind. Do you want to explain to us or talk to us about -- all right, you know, I told you why you're here. There was a robbery at the -- at KC Teriyaki and your name has come up. So, keeping your rights in mind, do you want to talk to us about it?

MR. MAYER: Okay.

RP 78-80.

For a good portion of the defendant's interview with the police he denied any involvement with the robbery. RP 1179-1190. He then admitted that he was a heroin addict, that he had been one of the robbers, and that he was going to prison. RP 558-574.

Based upon the statements from the defendant and the others they had interviewed, Clark County Sheriff's deputies obtained and executed a search warrant at the single wide trailer where the defendant's sister Sarah Mayer and her boyfriend John Taylor were living. RP 608-612, While searching the back bedroom Emily Mayer and John Taylor shared they found the bank bag taken during the robbery with Mr. Choe's wallet in it, along with a .44 caliber pistol, a shotgun, jewelry, a laptop computer and other items. RP 616-630. The police later learned that the .44 caliber pistol, the shotgun, the jewelry, the laptop computer and other items had been stolen during a burglary at Nicholas and Gayleen Lies' house in rural La Center during the day on February 11th. RP 497-507. Mr. Lies was the ex-step father of the defendant and his sister Emily Mayer, who both had lived in Mr. Lies' La Center home when they were children. RP 493-496.

Based upon their findings the deputies arrested Emily Mayer and John Taylor. RP 924-925. These deputies also searched their vehicle and found a Glock .40 caliber pistol in the trunk. RP 630-635. Once under arrest Emily Mayer and John Taylor gave similar statements to the police.

RP 925. According to Emily Mayer, during the daylight hours of February 11th the defendant showed up at her trailer with items he said he had stolen out of Mr. Lies' house. RP 752-755. He then convinced her to drive him back to La Center so he could try to wipe his fingerprints clean from the inside of the home. *Id.* She then drove him to Mr. Lies' home where they both entered and took a number of items. RP 755-760. After leaving they returned to Emily Mayer's trailer and hid the items they had stolen. *Id.*

During their interviews with the sheriff's deputies Emily Mayer and John Taylor both gave the following story about the robbery. RP 770-781, 897-920. After John Taylor finished working and came home on February 11th, the defendant suggested they rob KC Teriyaki at closing time. *Id.* In fact, Emily Mayer had previously told them that it would be easy to rob the place given Mr. Choe's lax closing procedures. *Id.* The defendant then retrieved a .22 caliber revolver he had stolen earlier that day from Mr. Lies, and Mr. Taylor got his .40 Glock pistol, which was the same pistol the deputies later found in the trunk of his car. *Id.* Mr. Taylor claimed that the .40 Glock was unloaded and that the .22 caliber revolver the defendant had was loaded. *Id.* Emily Mayer then drove them to the vicinity of the Fred Meyers in Salmon Creek and dropped them off. *Id.* At this point the defendant and Mr. Taylor made their way to the restaurant, waited in the bushes by the side door until it opened, pushed Mr. Garcia back in, grabbed

the bank bag and fled. *Id.* Once they got a few blocks from the restaurant they called Emily Mayer who came and picked them up. *Id.* The cash bag had about \$800.00 in it. RP 915-920. The defendant kept \$500.00 and gave \$300.00 to Mr. Taylor. *Id.* Mr. Taylor and Emily Mayer then dropped the defendant off in the Dollars Corner area of Battleground. RP 921-924.

Based upon the investigation they performed, sheriff's deputies also went to the home of Brandon Sheldon. RP 437-443. Once there they asked Mr. Sheldon if he had a gun that the defendant had given him to hold. *Id.* Mr. Sheldon replied that he did and he took them to his gun safe and opened it. *Id.* Inside the deputies found a .22 caliber pistol wrapped in a white bandana. RP 445-447. Later analysis revealed that both items had DNA on them. RP 1029-1030, Although the test on the DNA on the pistol was inconclusive, tests on the bandana revealed the presence of DNA from at least two persons on two different spots on the bandana. RP 1036-1039. The DNA from the "major contributor" from both locations on the bandana matched that of the defendant. RP 1040-1046, 1048. The possibility that the DNA from the first location on the bandana came from a person other than the defendant was one in five quintillion. RP 1046. The possibility that the DNA came from the second location on the bandana came from a person other than the defendant was one in seventeen million. RP 1048.

Procedural History

By information filed on February 12, 2012 and amended two weeks later the Clark County Prosecutor charged the defendant Nicholas Keith Mayer with the following offenses:

1. First Degree Robbery with two firearm enhancements at KC Teriyaki;
2. First Degree Burglary with two firearm enhancements at KC Teriyaki;
3. Residential Burglary for entry into Nick Lies' residence;
4. Theft of a Firearm for taking Nick Lies' .22 caliber Ruger pistol;
5. Theft of a Firearm for taking Nick Lies' .44 caliber Ruger pistol;
6. Theft of a Firearm for taking Nick Lies' Western Field 12 gauge shotgun;
7. Second Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm for possessing Nick Lies' .22 caliber Ruger pistol;
8. Second Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm for possessing Nick Lies' .44 caliber Ruger pistol;
9. Second Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm for possessing Nick Lies' Western Field 12 gauge shotgun;
10. Third Degree Theft for the other items take during the burglary at Nick Lies' house;
11. Attempted First Degree Trafficking in Stolen Property for trying to sell the .22 pistol belonging to Nick Lies;
12. Possession of a Stolen Firearm for possession of Nick Lies'

.44 caliber pistol; and

13. Possession of a Stolen Firearm for possession of Nick Lies' 12 gauge shotgun.

CP 2-3, 6-9.

The defense later filed a motion to suppress the defendant's custodial statements arguing that (1) the police obtained the statements by illegally stopping and detaining the defendant, and (2) that the police misinformed him of his right to an attorney during questioning. CP 15-19, 62-70. The court later held a hearing on these motions during which the state called four police officers and the defense called one witness. RP 12-147, 148-166. These witnesses testified to the facts concerning the stop and questioning of the defendant contained in the preceding factual history. *See Factual History*. The court denied the motions and later entered findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of its decision. CP 480-489.

At the readiness hearing in this case and on the first day of trial the defense moved to continue the trial date on the basis that it needed more time to obtain an expert to evaluate a recent report from the state concerning the probability that DNA allegedly taken from the white bandana came from a person other than the defendant. CP 524-530; RP 240-242. The court denied the motion. CP 146; RP 242. The defense later stated the following about the facts underlying this motion:

At the readiness hearing on October 4, 2012, Defendant requested a continuance in the trial. The basis of the continuance was untimely discovery as Defendant argued and the motion set forth. The untimely discovery was DNA test results and the DNA lab file which left counsel with insufficient time to obtain an expert. The first laboratory report defense received was on August 6, 2012. In the report it concluded Defendant alleged DNA on a pistol said to have been part of the robbery was “inconclusive.” Since the defendant was not going to contest the result it was not pursued further. However, in a report dated September 20, 20-12 and counsel receiving the report after that date, the state’s DNA analysis further showed a bandana allegedly used in the robbery had a matching profile of Defendant’s DNA at the level of 1 in 5 quintillion on part of the bandana, 1 in 3,700 individuals DNA profile on another area of the bandana and 1 in 17 million in a third area of the bandana. Defendant wanted to contest the results but he didn’t receive the discovery of the actual lab file until after September 27, 2012.

Defendant needed additional time to have his expert, Dr. Raymond Grimsbo of Intermountain Forensics review the state’s procedure for accuracy in its DNA analysis and to obtain an expert on the probability of the matching profile the state suggested existed, such as Dr. Bruce Weir, of the Biostatistics Laboratory University of Washington Medical School.

This gave counsel approximately eight days, before readiness hearing, to find an expert able to examine the report, send the data to the expert, get a report back, provide the results to the prosecutor, and be prepared to start trial. Deeming this to be an impossible task counsel requested a continuance at the readiness hearing as described above. The motion for continuance was denied.

CP 326-327.

These statements reiterated the defendant’s claims made in its original written motion. CP 524-530.

The case thereafter came to trial with the state calling 20 witnesses and recalling three of those witnesses for further testimony. CP 266-1143.

These witnesses testified to the facts contained in the preceding factual history. *See* Factual History. In addition during the direct testimony of Emily Mayer the defense objected when the state called upon her to comment on her own credibility by telling them that she had entered into a plea agreement with the state to provide truthful testimony. RP 727-737, 831-833. The court overruled this objection. RP 833. This exchange went as follows:

Q. Could you read that paragraph right there, please?

A. “The parties stipulated the – stipulate the defendant will be in breach of this agreement if the defendant makes any statement at any interview, hearing, or trial that is not completely truthful.”

Q. Okay. And what is your understanding if you were found to be untruthful in your testimony?

A. That I would not have a plea bargain.

Q. And that you would be back to square one?

A. Yes.

Q. So, your agreement is premised upon you testifying truthfully?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, when was the last -- I mean, correction: when was the first time you told the police what had happened?

A. When I was arrested on February 11th. It was probably about 6:00 in the morning at that time that I made a statement.

Q. Okay. And is that statement consistent with your testimony

today?

A. Yes.

MR. SOWDER: Objection. The consistency calls for an opinion, but they can compare the statements.

MR. VU: Her impeachment, she's –

JUDGE JOHNSON: Overruled.

RP 831-833.

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