NO. 44232-9-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

NICHOLAS KEITH MAYER, Appellant

---

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY  
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.12-1-00311-4

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK  
Prosecuting Attorney  
Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney  
1013 Franklin Street  
PO Box 5000  
Vancouver WA 98666-5000  
Telephone (360) 397-2261

**

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

The Court in *Collins* concluded its analysis of this subject by stating,

...in some cases, depending on the actual facts of the case, a limitation on or revocation of the privilege to be on the premises may be inferred from the circumstances of the case. That neither renders part of the statute superfluous nor converts all indoor crimes to burglaries. Not all such cases will support the inference we find justified here.

*Id.* at 261-62.

The facts in Mayer's case clearly call for application of either of the two theories adopted by the Supreme Court in *Collins, supra*. Though the victim restaurant was not quite closed for the evening, though the open sign was turned off and the owner had started his closing procedures, it is clear from the facts that Mayer and his co-defendant entered with one single intent: to rob the owner of the restaurant. The owner of the restaurant testified that the door used by Mayer was never used by customers and only available to them for an emergency exit; it is an iron, metal door and it is kept closed during business hours. 3A RP at 306-07. The outside of this door is immediately in the bushes, and it is a door that you cannot see from the road. 3A RP at 309. Mayer entered the restaurant with his gun drawn, immediately pointed the gun at Mr. Ortiz and obtained money. Mayer never entered the restaurant for the purpose of the implied license or invitation he could have held: to patronize the

restaurant. The only available inference from the totality of the evidence is that Mayer entered through a side door with the intent to steal money. Mayer did not take advantage of the invitation to the public to enter the restaurant to patronize it; instead he unlawfully entered a restaurant with the intent to rob the business. This constitutes the crime of Burglary in the First Degree.

In *State v. Gohl*, 109 Wn. App. 817, 37 P.3d 293 (2001), the Court of Appeals found a defendant committed burglary when he was not invited into the apartment of his girlfriend, even though she left the door ajar and gave him a glass of water once he was inside the residence. *Gohl*, 109 Wn. App. at 820, 823-24. The Court stated in its decision that “[a] reasonable person would not conclude that [the victim] extended an invitation or a license to Gohl to be in the apartment.” *Id.* at 823-24. The Court further found that even if Gohl had a license to be in the apartment, it was for the express purpose of getting a quarter and some water. *Id.* at 824. The license for Gohl to be in the apartment did not include assaulting his girlfriend and her roommate, and his girlfriend revoked any license he may have given by screaming for help and being victim of Gohl’s assault. *Id.*

Though the Third Division of this Court has found that proof of intent to commit a crime will not establish unlawful entry in a building

open to the public, that holding was both improperly broad and is distinguishable from Mayer's case. *State v. Miller*, 90 Wn. App. 720, 725, 954 P.2d 925 (1998). In *Miller*, the court vacated a defendant's burglary conviction when his actions only included entering a carwash open to the public, washing his car, and then stealing money from the car wash. *Id.* at 730. Though the court in *Miller* held that proof that a defendant had an unlawful intent at the time of his entry into a public building does not render that entry unlawful, those facts are significantly different than those before this Court. Mayer and his cohort pre-planned a time to enter a restaurant when they could most easily accomplish their task of robbing the owner of the day's earnings. Mayer had a firearm in his hand and pointed it at the restaurant worker as he entered through a side door of the building. This forced entry, even though the door was unlocked and open for customers, constitutes an unlawful entry for burglary purposes. Unlike the defendant in *Miller*, who entered the carwash without incident and remained initially to wash his car, Mayer had no lawful purpose in entering the restaurant and he did so in a violent and forceful manner which negates any lawful basis for his entry. The State urges this Court to find the holding in *Miller* inapplicable here.

Further, the court in *Miller* seems to discount the significance of the Supreme Court's analysis in *Collins, supra*. In *Collins*, the Supreme

Court considered a case where a defendant was charged with burglary of a business. This consideration shows that its holding is not limited only to residential burglaries, or to those places that are always closed to the public. *Collins*, 110 Wn.2d at 260-61. The evidence is substantial that Mayer pre-planned this robbery and entered the restaurant with the sole intent of robbing the business. He never entered as a customer intent on purchasing food and paying for it. Mayer was not licensed or invited to enter the business through a side door, with a gun drawn.

Even if this Court finds Mayer did have license to enter the restaurant, that license ended once his offensive behavior began, which was immediately. *See Collins, supra* at 261. Mayer and his co-defendant both had guns drawn as they entered the establishment. Their faces were hidden behind masks or bandanas, and they immediately went about committing the robbery. This is not a situation in which Mayer studied the menu, or ordered food, or sat down at a table to consume his food. The evidence shows that Mayer committed this robbery immediately upon entering. Any possible invitation he had ended as soon as he began his criminal conduct.

There was sufficient evidence to convict Mayer of Burglary in the First Degree and this court should affirm his conviction.

## II. MAYER RECEIVED A UNANIMOUS VERDICT

Mayer argues that the State failed to prove both alternative means of Burglary in the First Degree and he was denied a unanimous verdict. Substantial evidence supports that Mayer both unlawfully entered and unlawfully remained in the restaurant. Thus Mayer was not denied a unanimous verdict.

Jury verdicts in a criminal case must be unanimous as to the defendant's guilt of the charged crime. *State v. Ortega-Martinez*, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994). When a crime has alternate means by which the defendant can commit the crime, the jury verdict is unanimous if there was substantial evidence to support both alternate means. *State v. Whitney*, 108 Wn.2d 506, 508, 739 P.2d 1150 (1987).

Assuming without conceding that burglary is an alternative means crime, there is substantial evidence that Mayer both unlawfully entered and unlawfully remained in the restaurant with the intent to commit a crime therein. As discussed in the section above, there was substantial evidence presented to the jury that supported either that Mayer entered unlawfully or remained unlawfully in the restaurant. He entered with a gun drawn and the intent to rob the business. Mayer then remained unlawfully while he completed the robbery. Substantial evidence supports either

means of committing this burglary and therefore Mayer was not denied a unanimous verdict.

In most burglary cases juries can be instructed as to both means of committing the crime (unlawfully remain or unlawfully enter) and prosecutorial election of means is not required nor is a special jury instruction. *State v. Johnson*, 132 Wn. App. 400, 409-10, 132 P.3d 737 (2006) (citing *State v. Allen*, 127 Wn. App. 125, 130, 133, 135-36, 110 P.3d 849 (2005)).

So long as there is sufficient evidence as to each means or so long as a reviewing court can tell that the verdict was based on only one means which was supported by substantial evidence, a general verdict finding the defendant guilty of burglary will stand.

*Id.* (citing *Allen*, 127 Wn. App. at 130, 135-36).

In reviewing the record, it is clear that the State here presented substantial evidence that allowed the jury to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Mayer committed the crime of burglary either by unlawfully entering or by unlawfully remaining in the restaurant.

### III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED MAYER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE

The trial court correctly ruled in denying Mayer's motion to suppress evidence. The information received from the informant was reliable and the police had reasonable, articulable suspicion of criminal



activity which warranted a *Terry* stop of Mayer. As the initial seizure was lawful, the trial court properly denied Mayer's motion to suppress and properly admitted the evidence obtained as a result of the seizure in trial.

On appeal, this court should accept as verity the trial court's findings of fact that the petitioner does not challenge, *see State v. Ross*, 106 Wn. App. 876, 880, 26 P.3d 298 (2001), and review those challenged for substantial evidence. *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 647, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). The court should review conclusions of law de novo and the constitutionality of a warrantless stop de novo as well. *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997); *State v. Rankin*, 151 Wn.2d 689, 694, 92 P.3d 202 (2004). Mayer does not challenge any findings of fact therefore the trial court's findings are verities on appeal. All conclusions of law should be reviewed de novo.

A seizure for investigative purposes is permissible when a police officer can point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant the intrusion. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed.2d 889 (1968); *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 20, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997). Probable cause is not required for this type of seizure because it is significantly less intrusive than an arrest. *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986); *Brown v. Texas*, 443 U.S. 47, 50, 99 S. Ct. 2637, 61 L. Ed.2d 357

(1979). When reviewing a police officer's seizure of an individual for an investigatory reason, the reviewing court should look at the "whole picture" to determine whether the police officer's suspicion of criminal activity was reasonable. *State v. Lee*, 147 Wn. App. 912, 917, 199 P.3d 445 (2008), *review denied*, 166 Wn.2d 1016 (2009) (quoting *State v. Randall*, 73 Wn. App. 225, 229, 868 P.2d 207 (1994)). The reasonableness of the officer's suspicion is determined by the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the inception of the stop. Not only should a reviewing court evaluate the totality of the circumstances presented to the investigating officer, but it should also take into account the officer's training and experience when determining the reasonableness of the *Terry* stop, as well as other factors such as the location of the seizure and the conduct of the person detained. *State v. Glover*, 116 Wn.2d 509, 514, 806 P.2d 760 (1991). Under this test, an officer may rely on a combination of otherwise innocent observations to briefly stop a suspect. *U.S. v. Arvizu*, 534 U.S. 266, 277, 122 S. Ct. 744, 151 L. Ed. 2d 740 (2002). The investigative detention must last no longer than is necessary to verify or dispel the officer's suspicion, and the investigative methods employed must be the least intrusive means reasonably available to effectuate the purpose of the detention. *State v. Williams*, 102 Wn.2d 733, 738-40, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984).

The factual basis for an investigatory stop need not arise out of an officer's personal observation, but may be supplied by information acquired from another person. *Adams v. Williams*, 407 U.S. 143, 147, 92 S. Ct. 1921 (1972). Police may rely on information known to its agency and relayed through dispatch. *State v. Gaddy*, 114 Wn. App. 702, 706, 60 P.3d 116 (2002), *aff'd*, 152 Wn.2d 64, 93 P.3d 872 (2004); *State v. Mance*, 82 Wn. App. 539, 542-44, 918 P.2d 527 (1996). Furthermore, an informant's tip can provide police with reasonable suspicion to make an investigatory stop, but the informant's tip must be reliable. *State v. Sieler*, 95 Wn.2d 43, 47, 621 P.2d 1272 (1980). The State establishes a tip's reliability when "(1) the *informant* is reliable *and* (2) the informant's *tip* contains enough objective facts to justify the pursuit and detention of the suspect *or* the noninnocuous details of the tip have been corroborated by the police thus suggesting that the information was obtained in a reliable fashion." *State v. Hart*, 66 Wn. App. 1, 7, 830 P.2d 696 (1992) (citing on *Sieler, supra*) (emphasis original).

The trial court below found that the informant was not an "anonymous tipster." CP 487. This person who provided information to police gave them his name and phone number and then later met with police to give a statement. CP 484. He provided police with highly reliable details regarding Mayer: he identified him by name and provided specific

information about a recent armed robbery; he indicated that Mayer had a lot of cash on him and had recently had a revolver; he also indicated Mayer was known to carry heroin on him. CP 487. This information corroborated much of what the police already suspected about the robbery. Police knew that the owner of the victim restaurant had fired Mayer's sister in recent months; the suspects in the robbery stole a bank bag with \$800 cash and the owner's wallet; the suspects in the robbery used a revolver and the other used a semi-automatic pistol. CP 481-82. Even if the informant is treated as an 'anonymous tipster,' the information he provided was highly reliable. This informant told police where Mayer currently was; police immediately found him near where the informant indicated they would. CP 487.

Mayer relies upon *State v. Hopkins*, 128 Wn. App. 855, 117 P.3d 377 (2005) in arguing that the court erred in failing to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of the *Terry* stop on him. Br of Appellant, p. 28-29. Mayer's reliance on *Hopkins* is misplaced. The facts in *Hopkins* differ significantly from those in Mayer's case. In *Hopkins*, an anonymous person called 911, refused to give his phone number, and gave police information about the defendant's whereabouts and that he had a gun. *Hopkins*, 128 Wn. App. at 858. The only corroboration police had was that a person matching the description was at a payphone near where the

informant said he would be. *Id.* at 859. In Mayer's case, the informant gave far more information and proved himself to be reliable: he gave his first name and phone number; he indicated the source of his information (his personal observations) and he gave police information which corroborated in several ways information already known to police about an ongoing armed robbery investigation, and this informant called police only 25 hours after the robbery occurred. CP 482. The informant told police Mayer was with his girlfriend, Sarah Baker, and that they were traveling in a grey Dodge Dakota pick up truck and they were at a particular bar. CP 482. When police arrived at the bar, they saw a grey Dodge Dakota pickup leaving the bar; the registered owner of that truck was Sarah Baker, Mayer's girlfriend. CP 482.

Considering the totality of the circumstances, the police officers were clearly justified in effecting an investigatory *Terry* stop on the vehicle to locate and detain Mayer to investigate his involvement in the armed robbery of the restaurant. The trial court properly made this finding and its ruling should be affirmed.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE STATEMENTS MAYER MADE TO POLICE

Mayer alleges the trial court erred in admitting statements Mayer made to police because Mayer alleges he requested an attorney prior to

questioning. Mayer knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived his *Miranda* rights and the statements he made were properly admitted at trial.

A trial court's findings are reviewed for substantial evidence and its conclusions are reviewed for support by the findings. *State v. Ross*, 106 Wn. App. 876, 880, 26 P.3d 298 (2001). A person may waive his or her *Miranda* rights; the government bears the burden of showing, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the suspect understood his rights and voluntarily waived them. *State v. Radcliffe*, 164 Wn.2d 900, 905, 194 P.3d 250 (2008) (citing *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477, 482, 101 S. Ct. 1880 (1981)). In addition, a suspect's request for an attorney at the time of police questioning must be unequivocal to invoke his constitutional right for counsel under *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 114 S. Ct. 2350, 129 L. Ed. 2d 362 (1994) and *State v. Radcliffe, supra*.

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